

Coordination Chemistry Reviews 206–207 (2000) 237–262



Applications of carbene complexes toward organic synthesis

James W. Herndon *

Department of Chemistry and Biochemistry, New Mexico State University, MSC 3C Las Cruces, NM 88003. USA

Received 10 August 1999; received in revised form 27 October 1999; accepted 27 October 1999

Contents

| Abstract. | 23′ |
|--|-----|
| 1. General overview | 238 |
| 2. Classification of reactivity patterns | 238 |
| 3. Cyclopropanation | 239 |
| 4. Fischer carbenes as ester surrogates | 24 |
| 5. Coupling of carbene complexes with alkynes | 242 |
| 6. Conversion of carbene complexes to ketene and ketimine complexes | 24′ |
| 7. Insertion reactions | 24 |
| 8. Other transformations of the metal carbene functionality to nonorganometallic compounds | 249 |
| 9. Metal vinylidene complexes | 249 |
| 10. Carbonyl olefination processes/Schrock carbene complexes | 250 |
| 11. Tandem reaction processes | 25 |
| 12. Olefin metathesis | 25: |
| Acknowledgements | 25 |
| References | 259 |

Abstract

The article highlights advances in the discovery and development of reaction processes utilizing metal-carbene complexes which are useful in the field of synthetic organic chemistry. Emphasis is on reaction processes which result in the formation of carbon-carbon

PII: S0010-8545(99)00252-0

^{*} Tel.: +1-505-6462487; fax: +1-505-6462649. *E-mail address:* jherndon@nmsu.edu (J.W. Herndon).

bonds in a reliable and efficient manner. Examples utilizing these reaction processes for the synthesis of biologically-important molecules has been noted wherever appropriate. © 2000 Elsevier Science S.A. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Carbene complexes; Organic synthesis; Reactivity patterns

1. General overview

The first stable transition metal carbene complex was reported by Fischer in 1964 [1], however prior to that time, complexes of carbenes with transition metals had been proposed as intermediates in metal-catalyzed reactions of diazo compounds and in other carbene transfer reactions [2]. Since the first report by Fischer, studies of the synthesis and reactivity of metal—carbene complexes has been a very active area of research. This review will focus on the use of carbene complexes in organic synthesis. This review will highlight reaction processes that have been well studied and can reliably lead to the production of a single class of compounds, and where possible will note applications of these reaction processes for the synthesis of biologically important molecules. Although not all of the reactions discussed have culminated in successful total syntheses, these reaction processes offer advantages for the synthesis of important structural features often present in numerous pharmaceutically-important molecules.

This review is not comprehensive and in most cases offers a sample reaction equation to represent a class of reactions. In most cases, references to the latest article, or a review, or an article of special significance has been included. Numerous reviews of carbene complexes in organic synthesis have appeared [3], and wherever possible, review articles will be referenced. The reaction of diazo compounds with transition metal salts is not covered in this review, although strong evidence suggests that metal—carbene complexes are intermediates in this process; several reviews of this area have recently appeared [4–7].

2. Classification of reactivity patterns

Transition-metal carbene complexes are generally divided into two classes, 'Fischer-type' carbene complexes and 'Schrock-type' carbene complexes. Fischer carbene complexes (exemplified by structure 1 of Scheme 1) exhibit the following features: (1) the carbene carbon is electrophilic; (2) the metal is in a relatively low oxidation state; and (3) the metal is typically toward the right side of the transition block. Schrock carbenes (exemplified by complex 2 of Scheme 1) exhibit the following features: (1) the carbene carbon is nucleophilic; (2) the metal is in a relatively high oxidation state; and (3) the metal is typically toward the left side of the transition block. There are some carbene complexes that do not fit comfortably into either class (e.g. amphiphilic [8]) and show features common to both classes.

$$\begin{array}{c}
Cr(CO)_{5} \\
CH_{3}Li \\
\hline
CH_{3}COCI \\
CH_{3}COCI \\
\hline
CH_{3}COCI \\
CH_{4}COCI \\
CH_{4}COCI$$

Common synthetic routes to complexes 1 and 2 are also depicted in Scheme 1. The most common routes to Fischer carbene complexes are through treatment of organolithium reagents with metal carbonyls followed by alkylation or through treatment of acyl halides with nucleophilic transition metal complexes followed by alkylation. Schrock carbene complexes are commonly generated through α -hydride elimination/alkane extrusion processes; for example, the formation of 3 is accompanied by rapid loss of neopentane and formation of carbene complex 2.

3. Cyclopropanation

One of the early goals after the discovery of carbene complexes was to effect the most common transformation of carbenes, cyclopropanation [9] (Scheme 2). The heteroatom-stabilized Fischer carbene complexes can only cyclopropanate electron-poor alkenes [10,11] and 1,3-dienes [12,13] (Scheme 2), or electron-rich alkenes under CO pressure [14]. Intramolecular cyclopropanation reactions appear to be more facile [15]. Unstable acetoxycarbene analogs (e.g. 10, Scheme 3) appear to undergo cyclopropanation of electron-rich alkenes more readily [16,17], while Group VI metal—carbene complexes lacking heteroatom substitution proved to be a more general cyclopropanating agent [18,19]. This reaction process is the cornerstone for the synthesis of prostaglandin derivatives 12 (Scheme 3). For the metals of Group VI, the molybdenum carbene complexes appear to be more reactive than the chromium carbene complexes; tungsten carbene complexes are not generally useful cyclopropanating agents except when lacking heteroatom substitution [20].

Scheme 2.

Scheme 3.

Cationic iron-carbene complexes, which are typically unstable but generated in situ, appear to be excellent reagents for cyclopropanation of unactivated alkenes (Scheme 4). These iron-carbene complexes can be generated via a variety of methods, including protonation of vinyliron species, alkylation of thioalkyliron species, or protonation or silylation of alkoxyiron (or hydroxyiron) species. The thiomethyliron complexes appear to be the most convenient starting materials for carbene transfer [21]. Some degree of asymmetric induction has been observed in the reaction of chiral-at-iron phosphine-substituted iron carbene complexes [22] and in iron carbene complexes featuring chiral auxiliaries [23]; this method has been used as the cornerstone for a recent synthesis of optically-pure cyclopropanecar-boxylate derivatives (e.g. 20, Scheme 5).

Other carbene complexes have been reported to undergo cyclopropanation reactions with alkenes. Reaction of alkenes with titanium alkylidenes followed by iodine leads to cyclopropanation products [24]. Iron-porphyrin-carbene complexes also effect the cyclopropanation of alkenes [25,26].

Fp
$$\xrightarrow{H^+}$$
 $\xrightarrow{CH_3CH=Fp}$ \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} $\xrightarrow{E^+}$ \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} $\xrightarrow{K^-}$ \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp} $\xrightarrow{Cr(CO)_3}$ \xrightarrow{Fp} \xrightarrow{Fp}

4. Fischer carbenes as ester surrogates

In many ways, the heteroatom-stabilized Fischer carbene complex can be regarded as an activated ester. The general reactivity profile for Fischer carbene complexes is depicted in Scheme 6. The Fischer carbene functionality is easily transformed to an ester using a variety of oxidants $(21 \rightarrow 26)$ [27,28]. Some reaction processes resemble esters, including deprotononation of the protons α to a carbene complex $(21 \rightarrow 22)$ (p $K_a \approx 12$ for complex 21, R = alkyl, M = Cr, X = OMe [29]), and replacement of the alkoxy group by thiol and amino groups $(21 \rightarrow 25)$ [30,31]. Other reaction processes which do not resemble esters (e.g. ligand replacement, $(21 \rightarrow 23)$) are the basis of additional reaction processes, and are discussed in depth in other sections of this review.

One of the major synthetic uses of carbene complexes is the Diels-Alder reaction of α,β -unsaturated carbene complexes and dienes [32] (Scheme 7). These complexes are extremely reactive dienophiles; their reactivity resembles that of α,β -unsaturated esters in the presence of Lewis acids, and offer superior regio- and stereoselectivity in reactions with unsymmetrical dienes. This reaction can also be conducted asymmetrically if a chiral auxiliary is present on the heteroatom substituent [33]. Successful oxidation of the carbene complex adducts to the corresponding esters or amides has been demonstrated in most examples. Other reactions reminiscent of α,β -unsaturated esters have also been reported, including 1,3-dipolar cycloadditions with diazo compounds (Scheme 8) [34,35], nitrones [36], and nitrile ylides [37], and Michael addition reactions [38], [2+2]-cycloadditions [39], and cyclopropanation [40]. In nearly all of these cases, numerous advantages relative to α,β -esters have been noted. In most of these cases, the reaction can be accomplished asymmetrically using a chiral heteroatom substituent [33].

Scheme 7.

Scheme 8

Imitation of other reaction processes of esters have also been demonstrated. The anion derived from carbene complexes (e.g. 34, Scheme 9) is only weakly nucle-ophilic, however it does couple efficiently with epoxides $(34 \rightarrow 36)$ [41] or aldehydes $(34 \rightarrow 39, 40)$ [42,43] in the presence of Lewis acids. Alkylation of the anion derived from Fischer carbene complexes is somewhat sluggish [44], however good yields of alkylation product have been reported for the coupling of phosphine-substituted carbene complexes with primary alkyl halides [44], and for the coupling of allylic, benzylic, and α -carbonyl halides with the pentacarbonyl derivatives $(34 \rightarrow 37, 38)$ [45,46], however dialkylation is sometimes a problem in these reactions.

5. Coupling of carbene complexes with alkynes

The coupling of carbene complexes with alkynes has been a very important reaction in organic synthesis. The major reaction of interest in this section is the Dötz benzannulation reaction (Scheme 10) [47], which involves the coupling of an α,β -unsaturated carbene complex with an alkyne (the phenylcarbene complex depicted in Scheme 10 can be replaced by an alkenylcarbene complex). The normal product of this coupling is the *p*-methoxyphenol derivative. The generally accepted mechanism of the Dötz reaction is depicted in Scheme 10. The scope and limit of this reaction has been studied widely, and both inter- and intramolecular versions of this reaction have been reported for a diverse array of highly functionalized alkynes and carbene complexes.

Scheme 9.

Scheme 10.

The Dötz reaction has been employed as a key step in the total synthesis of a variety of natural products, including vitamins E (52, Scheme 11) [48] and K_1 (49) [49], nanaomycin (55, Scheme 12), deoxyfrenolicin [50], angelicin, sphondin, thiosphondin (59, Scheme 13) [51], daunomycinone, 11-deoxydaunomycinone (63, Scheme 14) [52,53], khellin (67, Fig. 1) [54] and 7-ethoxyprecocene (68) [55].

The Dötz benzannulation appears to be a general reaction process only for alkoxy-substituted chromium carbene complexes. Nitrogen analogs usually afford five-membered ring annulation products (e.g. $69 \rightarrow 70$, Scheme 15) unless the nitrogen is acylated [56], however there are cases where benzannulation [57,58] and other ketene-derived products [59] are observed. Molybdenum- and tungsten carbene complexes also typically afford cyclopentannulation products (e.g. $71 \rightarrow 72$, 73)

Scheme 11.

Scheme 12.

Scheme 13.

$$CH_3O - Cr(CO)_4$$

$$GOCH_3 + GOCH_3 +$$

Fig. 1. Other compounds prepared using the Dötz reaction.

[60–62]. Iron carbene complexes afford pyrones (e.g. $74 \rightarrow 75$ or 76) [63] or furans [64,65], while cobalt carbene complexes afford furans (e.g. $77 \rightarrow 78$) [66].

A versatile synthesis of various classes of cyclopentanoid derivatives can be achieved through coupling of β -amino- α , β -unsaturated carbene complexes **79** (Scheme 16) and alkynes [67]. The starting carbene complexes are readily available from the addition of alkynyllithium reagents to chromium hexacarbonyl, followed by alkylation and amine addition. The two different reaction processes depicted in Scheme 16 are commonly observed in the coupling of complex **79** with alkynes, depending primarily upon the structure of the alkyne, the identity of R, and the

Scheme 15.

Scheme 16.

reaction conditions. The reaction affords predominantly aminocyclopentadiene derivatives **80** under two circumstances: (1) coupling with terminal alkynes; and (2) coupling with internal alkynes using either pyridine or acetonitrile as solvent [68,69]. The major products are 5-alkylidene-2-cyclopentenones (**82**) or 2-alkenyl-2-cyclopentenones (**83**) if **79** is coupled with either terminal or internal alkynes in ethereal solvents. This reaction process is the basis of a synthesis of the antihypertentisive oudenone **87** [70].

Coupling of alkylcarbene complexes and alkynes can lead to a variety of products, including cyclobutenones, cyclopentenones, furans, and dienes, and numerous products resulting from multiple alkyne incorporation. Only a few selective processes have been developed in these systems.

The coupling of alkynes with cyclopropylcarbene-chromium complexes affords cyclopentenone derivatives (e.g. $88 \rightarrow 89$ or 90, Scheme 17); both intermolecular [71] and intramolecular [72] versions of this reaction have been demonstrated. The reaction produces a cyclopentadienone intermediate 89 through a complex mechanistic process, which is reduced by the chromium byproduct of the cycloaddition process. The reduction process involves cyclopentadienide intermediates (e.g. 92, Scheme 18), which can be intercepted if the starting alkyne features leaving groups in the propargyl position, resulting in alkylidenecyclopentenone derivatives ($88 + 94 \rightarrow 97$) [73]. The intramolecular reaction featuring chiral propargyl groups proceeds stereoselectively to afford five-membered rings with a high degree of stereocontrol [74]. This process has been used as cornerstone for the preparation of vitamin D synthetic intermediates. The coupling of alkynes with the molybdenum

Scheme 17.

Scheme 18.

Scheme 19.

and tungsten analogs of complex **88** afford cycloheptadienone derivatives (Scheme 19) [75], however the scope of this reaction is highly limited.

Other processes of alkylcarbene-metal complexes and alkynes lead to reliable reaction pathways, many of which will be discussed in Section 11. In certain cases, the reaction of carbene complexes and alkynes leads to diene derivatives (e.g. $101 \rightarrow 102$, Scheme 20) by either H-shift [76,77] or silicon shift [78] processes. Reaction of alkylchromium-carbene complexes with alkynes affords cyclopentenones (e.g. $103 \rightarrow 104$, 105, Scheme 21) as the predominant products when the reaction was conducted in hexane solvent [79], accompanied by varying amounts of products derived from multiple alkyne insertions.

6. Conversion of carbene complexes to ketene and ketimine complexes

Photolyses of chromium carbene complexes generates ketene complexes (e.g. $1 \rightarrow 106$, Scheme 22), and this has been the basis for the design of numerous

Scheme 20.

Scheme 21.

Scheme 22.

transformations [80]. The coupling of carbene complexes with isocyanides leads to the analogous ketimine complexes (e.g. $1 \rightarrow 107$) [81]. The reaction of imines and chromium carbene complexes in the presence of light leads to β -lactam derivatives (e.g. $108 + 109 \rightarrow 110$, Scheme 23), and this reaction has been used as the basis of the synthesis of biologically active β -lactam derivative 1-carbacephalothin (111) [82]. Photolysis in the presence of amines or alcohols affords the expected amine and ester derivatives (e.g. $1 \rightarrow 114$ or 115, Scheme 24). Photolysis in the presence of alkenes affords cyclobutanone derivatives ($1 \rightarrow 113$) [83]. Amino acid derivatives can be prepared through photolysis of aminocarbene complexes in the presence of alcohols [84]. The coupling of aminocarbene complexes with amines under these conditions provides access to oligopeptide derivatives [85].

7. Insertion reactions

In some cases, the direct insertion of carbene complexes into σ -bonds can be a general process. The most well known example of this is the insertion into the H-ER₃ (E = Si, Ge, Sn) bond. Synthetically important allyl- and propargylmetal species are readily prepared using this method (e.g. 116 \rightarrow 117, Scheme 25) [86-88].

Scheme 23.

Scheme 24.

Scheme 25.

In special circumstances, electrophilic carbene complexes can undergo facile intramolecular C–H insertion reactions [89,90]. Fischer carbene complexes also undergo selective C–C bond insertion reactions with cyclobutenediones [91] and cyclopropenones [92].

8. Other transformations of the metal carbene functionality to nonorganometallic compounds

The metal carbene complex functionality is quite readily transformed into a variety of different functional groups (Scheme 26). As noted previously, carbene complexes are easily oxidized to the corresponding carbonyl group using a variety of oxidants (e.g. $118 \rightarrow 120$) [27,28,32]. Other processes include conversion to enol ethers (e.g. 122) [93] and reduction to alkoxyalkyl groups (e.g. 119) [94]. The carbene complex functionality can also be olefinated by reaction with diazo compounds (e.g. $118 \rightarrow 123$) [95] and a variety of ylide-type reagents [96,97], most notably stabilized sulfur ylides. Acetoxycarbene complexes decompose to enol acetate derivatives with a very high degree of selectivity for the *Z*-isomer [98]. Carbene complexes are also known to dimerize upon thermolysis [99,100].

9. Metal vinylidene complexes

Coupling of terminal alkynes with a variety of transition metal complexes leads to vinylidene-metal complexes (e.g. $124 \rightarrow 125$, Scheme 27) [101]. In many cases, the

Scheme 27

generation of metal vinylidene complexes followed by designed reaction processes is a highly useful process for organic synthesis. Reaction of sources of tungsten and chromium-pentacarbonyl with terminal alkynols results in cyclic carbene complexes which are subsequently transformed to cyclic enol ethers (e.g. $124 \rightarrow 126 \rightarrow 127$). In the case of molybdenum derivatives, the carbene complexes are not stable and result in the direct formation of the enol ether derivatives [102]. In many cases, the metal-vinylidene is a more suitable partner for an electrocyclic process, and enediynes [103,104] and dienynes (e.g. 128, Scheme 28) [105] spontaneously rearrange to the six-membered ring systems upon conversion of the alkyne to a terminal vinylidene intermediate (e.g. 128 \rightarrow 129).

Metal-vinylidene complexes can also be generated from the coupling of alkynylmetal systems with electrophiles. Treatment of alkynyltungsten complexes (e.g. 132, Scheme 29) with aldehydes and Lewis acids leads to cyclic carbene complexes which undergo a versatile array of demetallation processes [106]. Other synthetic routes to metal vinylidene complexes include treatment of alkoxycarbene complexes with strong electrophiles [107].

10. Carbonyl olefination processes/Schrock carbene complexes

The major uses of Schrock carbene complexes in synthetic organic chemistry are as substitutes for phosphorus ylides in the Wittig reaction [108] and for olefin metathesis (see Section 12). Titanium methylene complexes (e.g. 139, Scheme 30) are the most utilized class of reagents; titanium alkylidene 139 is generated in situ

Scheme 28.

Scheme 30.

from the Tebbe reagent 140, titanacyclobutanes 141 [109] or dialkyltitanium species 142 [110]. The dimethyltitanium systems are more conveniently generated, and this procedure has been extended to a variety of alkyl groups that have no β -hydrogens. A wide variety of alkyltitanium species can be generated from the reaction of thioacetals with titanium (II) species (Scheme 31) [111]. The Schrock carbene complexes offer several advantages over Wittig reagents, including: (1) the ability to olefinate esters and amides; (2) a tendency to avoid acid—base side reactions; and (3) less sensitivity to steric effects.

11. Tandem reaction processes

Numerous tandem reaction processes have been cleverly developed using carbene complexes. In most cases, the reactions presented are one-pot processes, however in some cases one carbene reaction generates a special synthetic route to another type of complex.

A number of investigators have designed serial reaction processes for the vinylcarbene intermediates obtained from the reaction of carbene complexes with alkynes [112]. The intermediate vinylcarbene complex (e.g. 153, Scheme 32) can be

Scheme 32.

intercepted via intramolecular cyclopropanation reactions with pendant alkenes (i.e. $152 \rightarrow 154$) [113–116]. The reaction of the dienyne 155 with a simple carbene complex affords the 5,7-fused ring system after intramolecular cyclopropanation followed by divinylcyclopropane rearrangement (155 \rightarrow 159) [117].

The intermediate vinylcarbene complex can also be intercepted by other alkynes to effect alternative strategies for benzannulation (Scheme 33). Thus the treatment of 1,6-heptadiyne with carbene complexes affords the benzannulation products (e.g.

Scheme 33.

163 or 164) in high yield [118]; a secondary reduction process affords phenol derivative 164. If the alkyne is conjugated with a functionalized alkene, the intermediate vinylcarbene complex can mimic other reaction processes such as the Dötz reaction (e.g. $165 + 1 \rightarrow 168$) or the cyclopentannulation reaction mentioned previously in Scheme 17 [119,120].

Vinylcarbene complexes are also produced by the Diels-Alder reaction with alkynylcarbene complexes. The Diels-Alder reaction of carbene complex 169 (Scheme 34) and diene 170 affords arylcarbene complex 171, which undergoes an

OTBS
OTBS
OTBS
OCT(CO)₅
OMe
$$CO)_5CC$$
 $CO)_5CC$
 $CO)_$

Scheme 34.

intramolecular two-alkyne coupling to afford the steroid derivative 174 [121]. The Diels-Alder reaction of arylalkynylcarbene complexes followed by photolysis generates the same ketene intermediate as the Dötz reaction, which ultimately affords the benzannulation product (e.g. $176 \rightarrow 177$, Scheme 35) [122]. Simple treatment of the Diels-Alder adducts with isonitriles affords the aminated aromatic rings (e.g. $176 \rightarrow 178$) [123]. Mild thermolysis of these adducts affords cyclopentannulated products (e.g. $181 \rightarrow 182$) [124].

Cation-olefin cascade cyclization processes can be initiated by the generation of iron-carbene complexes in polyene systems (Scheme 36) [125]. In the reaction process depicted, the iron-carbene complex functions as a carbocation equivalent.

Tandem reaction processes have also been designed for Schrock carbene complexes. Treatment of norbornene derivatives (e.g. 187, Scheme 37) functionalized by hindered esters proceeds via [2+2]-cycloaddition between the alkene and titanium alkylidene complex, followed by ring opening and carbonyl olefination, ultimately

Scheme 35.

PhS Fp 183

Fp = -Fe(CO)₂Cp

$$Ce(IV)$$
methanol

COOMe 186

Scheme 36.

affording cyclobutene derivative **190** [126]. This reaction process was used as the cornerstone for a total synthesis of capnellene (**191**).

Scheme 37.

12. Olefin metathesis

The basic equation for the olefin metathesis reaction is displayed below in Scheme 38. Historically, the most utilized aspect of olefin metathesis is the ring opening metathesis polymerization (ROMP) of strained cycloalkenes, depicted in Scheme 39 for cyclobutene. Until recently, olefin metathesis reactions were sparsely utilized in organic synthesis. This review will highlight reactions that do not result in the formation of polymers. The primary problems associated with use of olefin metathesis for complex molecule synthesis are: (1) the difficulty controlling the equilibrium; and (2) the lack of functional group compatibility of most olefin metathesis catalyst systems.

Most of the successful developments in olefin metathesis for organic synthesis have occurred in the last decade of the millennium [127], primarily due the

Scheme 38.

Scheme 39.

$$(Cy)_3P$$
, CI_{Ph}
 CI_{CY}
 $(Cy)_3P$ 192

 CI_{CY}
 $Ar = 2.6$ -diisopropylphenyl

Fig. 2. Functional group tolerant olefin metathesis catalysts.

discovery of well-defined ruthenium- (192, Fig. 2, 'Grubbs catalyst') and molybdenum (193, 'Schrock catalyst') catalysts which tolerate a variety of functional groups. Prior to that, reports of olefin metathesis for the selective preparation of nonpolymeric organic compounds were very limited.

Several examples of the selective preparation of alkenes using cross metathesis of alkenes have been reported [128]. Most of the high-yielding examples feature strained (e.g. $194 \rightarrow 196$, Scheme 40) [129] or monosubstituted (e.g. $192 \rightarrow 198$) [130] alkenes coupling with another alkene used in excess. A notable problem in these reactions is that metathesis is an equilibrium-controlled process, thus homocoupling is competitive with heterocoupling. The reactions are selective for one or more of the following reasons: (1) one partner is used in excess; (2) one alkene is strained; or (3) a volatile byproduct is produced. An additional usage of cross metathesis is for the preparation of combinatorial libraries through the total equilibration of mixtures [131,132].

Ring-closing metathesis (RCM) (Scheme 41) has emerged as a very important method for the construction of cyclic compounds; some general reaction equations are depicted in Scheme 41 [133]. Virtually every ring size greater than four has been synthesized using this reaction. The reaction is generally successful for the synthesis of five-, six-, and seven membered ring systems, however larger rings have been synthesized when conformational effects are favorable or under high-dilution conditions.

Notable synthetic targets which have utilized alkene metathesis as a key step include: epothilone A (207, Scheme 42) [134], carbocyclic nucleosides (e.g. carbavir

OTBS 195

194

$$X = O, R = CH_3 \text{ or } (Cy)_3 P \ D_1 P h$$
 $X = CH_2, R = OH$

197

 $X = CH_3 \text{ or } (Cy)_3 P \ D_2 P h$

Regioselectivity 8:1 - 10:1

 $X = CH_2 + CH_$

Scheme 40.

Scheme 41.

Scheme 42.

Scheme 43

(210) [135], australine (213) [136], and nebivololol (216) [137]. Ring-closing metathesis has been a key step in synthetic approaches to a variety of biologically-important carbon-skeletons, including the macrocyclic ring of roseophilin [138], the medium-size heterocyclic rings of brevitoxin and ciguatoxin [139], the ring closure step for cyclic peptide derivatives [140], geissoschizine [141] and aspidosperma alkaloids [142]. Ring closing metathesis has also been used for the synthesis of trefoil knot compounds [143] and catenanes [144].

Asymmetric versions of the RCM reaction have also been developed (Scheme 43). Kinetic resolution processes can be effected using homochiral catalyst 217 and a diene featuring a chiral ether 218 [145,146]. A compound featuring enantiotopic alkene groups 221 undergoes the RCM reaction with a high degree of enantioselectivity using chiral catalyst 217 [147]. Other catalysts have also been tested in the asymmetric RCM reaction [148].

Metathesis reactions involving alkyne components have also been reported [149]. An example of enyne metathesis is depicted in Scheme 44 [150]. The range of ring sizes prepared using this reaction process rivals that of the RCM reaction.

In summary, carbene complexes have emerged as powerful reagents for synthetic organic chemistry, and have served as the cornerstone for the synthesis of a variety of biologically important molecules. The area remains a very active area of investigation, and the design of new reaction processes using carbene complexes as

Scheme 44.

well as applications in the synthesis of important natural and unnatural compounds continues to be an important area.

Acknowledgements

I thank Professor Wayne F.K. Schnatter of Yeshiva University for his thoughtful editorial comments on this manuscript.

References

- [1] E.O. Fischer, A. Maasböl, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 8 (1964) 580.
- [2] W. Kirmse, Carbene Chemistry, vol. I, Academic Press, New York, 1971, pp. 85–166.
- [3] For the most recent review of the whole area of carbene complexes in organic synthesis, see: L.S. Hegedus, Transition Metals in the Synthesis of Complex Organic Molecules, second ed., University Science Books, Mill Valley, CA, 1999 (Chapter 6).
- [4] M.P. Dovle, M.N. Protopopova, Tetrahedron 54 (1998) 7919.
- [5] M.P. Doyle, Russ. Chem. Bull. 48 (1999) 16.
- [6] H.M.L. Davies, Aldrichim. Acta 30 (1997) 107.
- [7] A. Padwa, Top. Curr. Chem. 189 (1997) 121.
- [8] C.P. Casey, C.J. Czerwinski, D.R. Powell, R.K. Hayashi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 5750.
- [9] M.S. Brookhart, W.B. Studebaker, Chem. Rev. 87 (1987) 411.
- [10] A. Wienand, H.-U. Reissig, Organometallics 9 (1990) 3133.
- [11] A recent result suggests this process might be more general: J. Barluenga, A. Fernández-Acebas, A.A. Trabanco, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 7591.
- [12] D.F. Harvey, K.F. Lund, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 113 (1991) 8916.
- [13] J.W. Herndon, S.U. Tumer, J. Org. Chem. 56 (1991) 286.
- [14] E.O. Fischer, K.H. Dötz, Chem. Ber. 105 (1972) 3966.
- [15] B.C. Soderberg, L.S. Hegedus, Organometallics 9 (1990) 3113.
- [16] C.K. Murray, D.C. Yang, W.D. Wulff, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 112 (1990) 5660.
- [17] K. Takeda, K. Sakamura, E. Yoshii, Tetrahedron Lett. 38 (1997) 3257.
- [18] J. Pfeiffer, M. Nieger, K.H. Dötz, Eur. J. Org. Chem. (1998) 1011.
- [19] B. Martin-Vaca, H. Rudler, M. Audoin, M. Nicolas, T. Durrand-Réville, B. Vissiére, J. Organomet. Chem. 567 (1998) 119.
- [20] D.F. Harvey, M.F. Brown, Tetrahedron Lett. 31 (1990) 2529.
- [21] E.J. O'Connor, S. Brandt, P. Helquist, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 109 (1987) 3739.
- [22] M.S. Brookhart, Y. Liu, R.C. Buck, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 110 (1988) 2337.
- [23] Q. Wang, F. Yang, H. Du, M.M. Hossain, D. Bennett, D.S. Grubisha, Tetrahedron Asymmetry 9 (1998) 3971.
- [24] S.C.H. Ho, D.A. Strauss, R.H. Grubbs, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 106 (1984) 1533.
- [25] C.J. Ziegler, K.S. Suslick, J. Organomet. Chem. 528 (1997) 83.
- [26] E. Galardon, P. Le Maux, L. Toupet, G. Simonneaux, Organometallics 17 (1998) 565.
- [27] For the latest example using dimethyldioxirane, see: M. Gibert, M. Ferrer, A.M. Lluch, F. Sanchez-Baeza, A. Messeguer, J. Org. Chem. 64 (1999) 1591.
- [28] DMSO is the most commonly utilized oxidant: C.P. Casey, T.J. Burkhardt, C.A. Bunnell, J.C. Calabrese, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99 (1977) 2127.
- [29] C.F. Bernasconi, Chem. Soc. Rev. 26 (1997) 299.
- [30] E.O. Fischer, M. Leupold, C.G. Kreiter, J. Müller, Chem. Ber. 105 (1972) 150.
- [31] E.O. Fischer, M. Leupold, Chem. Ber. 105 (1972) 599.

- [32] W.D. Wulff, W.E. Bauta, R.W. Kaesler, P.J. Lankford, R.A. Miller, C.K. Murray, D.C. Yang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 112 (1990) 3642.
- [33] W.D. Wulff, Organometallics 17 (1998) 3116.
- [34] K.S. Chan, W.D. Wulff, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108 (1986) 5229.
- [35] F.R. Kreissel, E.O. Fischer, C.G. Kreiter, J. Organomet. Chem. 57 (1973) C9-C11.
- [36] K.S. Chan, M.L. Yeung, W.K. Chan, R.J. Wang, T.C.W. Mak, J. Org. Chem. 60 (1995) 1741.
- [37] J. Barluenga, F. Ferneandez-Marí, E. Aguilar, A.L. Vindo, B. Olano, Tetrahedron Lett. 39 (1998) 4887
- [38] J Barluenga, J. Montserrat, J. Flórez, S. García-Granda, E. Martin, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 33 (1994) 1392.
- [39] W.D. Wulff, K.L. Faron, A.L. Rheingold, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1 (1999) 197.
- [40] J. Barluenga, P.L. Bernad, J.M. Concellon, A. Pineranicolas, S. Garcia-Granda, J. Org. Chem. 62 (1997) 6870.
- [41] L. Lattuada, E. Licandro, S. Maiorama, H. Molinari, A. Papagni, Organometallics 10 (1991) 807.
- [42] R. Aumann, H. Heinen, Chem. Ber. 120 (1987) 537.
- [43] H. Wang, R.P. Hsung, W.D. Wulff, Tetrahedron Lett. 39 (1998) 1849.
- [44] Y.C. Xu, W.D. Wulff, J. Org. Chem. 52 (1987) 3263.
- [45] C.P. Casev, W.R. Brusvold, J. Organomet, Chem. 118 (1976) 309.
- [46] W.H. Moser, L.S. Hegedus, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 118 (1996) 7873.
- [47] K.H. Dotz, P. Tomuschat, Chem. Soc. Rev. 28 (1999) 187.
- [48] K.H. Dötz, W. Kuhn, Angew Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 22 (1983) 732.
- [49] K.H. Dötz, I. Pruskill, J. Mühlemeier, Chem Ber, 115 (1982) 1278.
- [50] M.F. Semmelhack, J.J. Bozell, L. Keller, T. Sato, E.J. Speiss, W. Wulff, A. Zask, Tetrahedron 41 (1985) 5803.
- [51] W.D. Wulff, J.S. McCallum, F.A. Kunng, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 110 (1988) 7419.
- [52] W.D. Wulff, P.C. Tang, K.S. Chan, J.S. McCallum, D.C. Yang, S.R. Gilbertson, Tetrahedron 41 (1985) 5813.
- [53] K.H. Dötz, M. Popall, Chem. Ber. 121 (1988) 665.
- [54] A. Yamashita, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 107 (1985) 5823.
- [55] W.D. Wulff, K.S. Chan, P.C. Tang, J. Org. Chem. 49 (1984) 2293.
- [56] D.B. Grotjahn, F.E.K. Kroll, T. Schaefer, K. Harms, K.H. Dötz, Organometallics 11 (1992) 298.
- [57] W.D. Wulff, A.M. Gilbert, R.P. Hsung, A. Rahm, J. Org, Chem. 60 (1995) 4566.
- [58] J. Barluenga, L.A. López, S. Martínez, M. Tomás, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 7588.
- [59] H. Rudler, A. Parlier, M. Rudler, J. Vaissermann, J. Organomet. Chem. 567 (1998) 101.
- [60] W.D. Wulff, B.N. Bax, T.A. Brandvold, K.S. Chan, A.M. Gilbert, R.P. Hsung, J. Mitchell, J. Clardy, Organometallics 13 (1994) 102.
- [61] D.F. Harvey, E.M. Grenzer, P.K. Gantzel, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 116 (1994) 6719.
- [62] H.C. Foley, L.M. Strubinger, T.S. Targos, G.L. Geoffrey, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 105 (1983) 3064.
- [63] M.F. Semmelhack, R. Tamura, W.F.K. Schnatter, J.P. Springer, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 106 (1984) 5363.
- [64] A. Rehman, W.F.K. Schnatter, N. Manolache, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 115 (1993) 9848.
- [65] M.F. Semmelhack, J. Rark, Organometallics 5 (1986) 2550.
- [66] W.D. Wulff, S.R. Gilbertson, J.P. Springer, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108 (1986) 520.
- [67] A. de Meijere, Pure Appl. Chem. 68 (1996) 61.
- [68] B.L. Flynn, F.J. Funke, C.C. Silveira, A. de Meijere, Synlett (1992) 1007.
- [69] B.L. Flynn, A. de Meijere, J. Org. Chem. 64 (1999) 400.
- [70] B.L. Flynn, C.C. Silveira, A. de Meijere, Synlett (1995) 812.
- [71] S.U. Tumer, J.W. Herndon, L.A. McMullen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114 (1992) 8394.
- [72] J. Yan, J. Zhu, J.J. Matasi, J.W. Herndon, J. Org. Chem. 64 (1999) 1291.
- [73] J.W. Herndon, J. Zhu, Org. Lett. 1 (1999) 15.
- [74] J. Yan, J.W. Herndon, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 2325.
- [75] J.W. Herndon, M. Zora, P.P. Patel, G. Chatterjee, J.J. Matasi, S.U. Tumer, Tetrahedron 53 (1993) 5507.
- [76] D.W. Macomber, Organometallics 3 (1984) 1589.

- [77] D.F. Harvey, D.A. Neil, Tetrahedron 49 (1993) 2145.
- [78] J. Herndon, Y. Zhu, Tetrahedron Lett. 39 (1998) 7443.
- [79] C.A. Challener, W.D. Wulff, B.A. Anderson, S. Chamberlin, K.L. Faron, O.K. Kim, C.K. Murray, Y.C. Xu, D.C. Yang, S.D. Darling, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 115 (1993) 1359.
- [80] L.S. Hegedus, Tetrahedron 53 (1997) 4105.
- [81] R.A. Aumann, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 27 (1988) 1456.
- [82] Y. Narukawa, K.N. Juneau, D. Snustad, D.B. Miller, L.S. Hegedus, J. Org. Chem. 57 (1992) 5453.
- [83] A.D. Reed, L.S. Hegedus, J. Org. Chem. 60 (1995) 3787.
- [84] L.S. Hegedus, M.A. Schwindt, S. DeLombaert, R. Imwinkelreid, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 112 (1990) 2264.
- [85] J.R. Miller, S.R. Pulley, L.S. Hegedus, S. DeLombaert, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114 (1992) 5602.
- [86] C.C. Mak, M.K. Tse, K.S. Chan, J. Org. Chem. 59 (1994) 3585.
- [87] C.A. Merlic, J. Albaneze, Tetrahedron Lett. 36 (1995) 1011.
- [88] C.A. Merlic, J. Albaneze, Tetrahedron Lett. 36 (1995) 1007.
- [89] S. Ishii, P. Helquist, Synlett (1997) 508.
- [90] For a leading reference to C-H insertion processes of metal-carbene complexes, see: M.A. Sierra, M.J. Mancheño, E. Sáez, J.C. del Amo, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 6812.
- [91] M. Zora, J.W. Herndon, Organometallics 11 (1993) 249.
- [92] M. Zora, J.W. Herndon, Organometallics 12 (1994) 3370.
- [93] E.O. Fischer, D. Plabst, Chem. Ber. 107 (1974) 3326.
- [94] C.P. Casey, S.M. Neumann, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99 (1977) 1651.
- [95] C.P. Casey, S.H. Bertz, T.J. Burkhardt, Tetrahedron Lett. 14 (1973) 1421.
- [96] B. Alcaide, L. Cassarubios, G. Dominguez, M.A. Sierra, Curr. Org. Chem. 2 (1998) 551.
- [97] B. Alcaide, L. Casarrubios, G. Dominguez, M.A. Sierra, Organometallics 15 (1996) 4612.
- [98] B.C. Soderberg, J. Liu, T.W. Ball, M.J. Turbeville, J. Org. Chem. 62 (1997) 5945.
- [99] D.W. Macomber, M.-H. Hung, A.K. Verma, R.D. Rogers, Organometallics 7 (1988) 2072.
- [100] C.P. Casey, R.L. Anderson, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. (1975) 895.
- [101] M.I. Bruce, Chem. Rev. 98 (1998) 2797.
- [102] F.E. McDonald, H.Y.H. Zhu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 4246.
- [103] T. Manabe, S.-I. Yanagi, K. Ohe, S. Uemura, Organometallics 17 (1998) 2942.
- [104] Y.S. Wang, M.G. Finn, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 117 (1998) 8045.
- [105] C.A. Merlic, M.E. Pauly, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 118 (1996) 113190.
- [106] K. Liang, W. Li, S. Peng, S. Wang, R. Liu, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 4404.
- [107] A.G.M. Barrett, J. Mortier, M. Sabat, M.A. Sturgess, Organometallics 7 (1988) 2553.
- [108] S.H. Pine, G.S. Shen, H. Hoang, Synthesis (1991) 165.
- [109] K.A. Brown-Wensley, S.L. Buchwald, L. Cannizzo, L. Clawson, S. Ho, D. Meinhardt, J.R. Stille, D. Strauss, R.H. Grubbs, Pure Appl. Chem. 55 (1983) 1733.
- [110] N.A. Petassis, Transition Met. Org. Synth. 1 (1998) 361.
- [111] Y. Horikawa, N. Watanabe, F. Fujiwara, T. Takeda, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 119 (1997) 1127.
- [112] D.F. Harvey, D.M. Sigano, Chem. Rev. 96 (1996) 271.
- [113] P.F. Korkowski, T.R. Hoye, D.B. Rydberg, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 110 (1988) 2676.
- [114] T.R. Hoye, J.A. Suriano, Organometallics 11 (1992) 2044.
- [115] D.F. Harvey, D.M. Sigano, J. Org. Chem. 61 (1996) 2268.
- [116] T.R. Hoye, J.R. Vyuyan, J. Org. Chem. 60 (1995) 4184.
- [117] D.F. Harvey, M.F. Brown, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 112 (1990) 7806.
- [118] W.D. Wulff, R.W. Kaesler, G.A. Peterson, P.-C. Tang, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 107 (1985) 1060.
- [119] J.W. Herndon, A. Hayford, Organometallics 14 (1995) 1556.
- [120] J.W. Herndon, H. Wang, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 4562.
- [121] J.M. Bao, W.D. Wulff, V. Dragisich, S. Wenglowsky, R.G. Ball, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 116 (1994) 7616.
- [122] C.A. Merlic, D. Xu, B.G. Gladstone, J. Org. Chem. 58 (1993) 538.
- [123] C.A. Merlic, E.E. Burns, D. Xu, S.Y. Chen, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 114 (1992) 8722.
- [124] J. Barluenga, F. Aznar, S. Barluenga, M. Fernández, A. Martín, S. García-Granda, A. Piñera-Nicolas, Chem. Eur. J. 4 (1998) 2280.

- [125] C.T. Baker, M.N. Matson, P. Helquist, Tetrahedron Lett. 36 (1995) 7015.
- [126] J.R. Stille, R.H. Grubbs, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 108 (1986) 855.
- [127] M.L. Randall, M.L. Snapper, J. Mol. Catal. A 133 (1998) 29.
- [128] S.E. Gibson, S.P. Keen, Top. Organomet, Chem. 1 (1998) 155.
- [129] J.A. Tallarico, M.L. Randall, M.L. Snapper, Tetrahedron 53 (1997) 165110.
- [130] S.E. Gibson, V.C. Gibson, S.P. Keen, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. (1997) 1107.
- [131] D.L. Boger, W. Chai, Tetrahedron 54 (1998) 3955.
- [132] T. Giger, M. Wigger, S. Audétat, S.A. Benner, Synlett (1998) 688.
- [133] R.H. Grubbs, S. Chang, Tetrahedron 54 (1998) 4413.
- [134] K.C. Nicolaou, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 37 (1998) 2014.
- [135] M.T. Crimmins, A.L. Chov, J. Org. Chem. 62 (1997) 7548.
- [136] J.D. White, P. Hrnciar, A.F.T. Yokochi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 7359.
- [137] C.W. Johannes, M.S. Visser, G.S. Weatherhead, A.H. Hoveyda, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 8340.
- [138] S.H. Kim, I. Figueroa, P.L. Fuchs, Tetrahedron Lett. 38 (1997) 2601.
- [139] T. Oishi, Y. Nagumo, M. Hirama, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. (1998) 1041.
- [140] H.E. Blackwell, R.H. Grubbs, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 37 (1998) 3281.
- [141] V.B. Birman, V.H. Rawal, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 9146.
- [142] S.A. Kozmin, V. Rawal, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 135234.
- [143] C. Dietrich-Bucheneker, G. Rapenne, J.-P. Sauvage, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. (1997) 2049.
- [144] B. Mohr, M. Weck, J.P. Sauvage, R.H. Grubbs, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 36 (1997) 1308.
- [145] J.B. Alexander, D.S. La, D.R. Cefalo, A.H. Hoveyda, R.R. Schrock, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 4041.
- [146] O. Fujimura, R.H. Grubbs, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 824.
- [147] D.S. La, J.B. Alexander, D.R. Cefalo, D.D. Graf, A.H. Hoveyda, R.R. Schrock, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 120 (1998) 9720.
- [148] O. Fujimura, R.H. Grubbs, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 824.
- [149] M. Mori, Top. Organomet. Chem. 1 (1998) 133.
- [150] M. Mori, N. Sakakibara, A. Kinoshita, J. Org. Chem. 63 (1998) 6082.